72411-8

72411-8

FILED May 29, 2015 Court of Appeals Division I State of Washington

No. 72411-8-I

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

DIVISION ONE

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

JENARO HERNANDEZ,

Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR SNOHOMISH COUNTY

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

KATHLEEN A. SHEA Attorney for Appellant

WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT 1511 Third Avenue, Suite 701 Seattle, Washington 98101 (206) 587-2711

A. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The State proceeded to trial against Jenaro Hernandez based almost entirely on the hearsay statements made by a child, Y.M, who did not testify at trial. After Mr. Hernandez was charged with multiple counts of first degree child rape and first degree child molestation, Y.M.'s mother left for Mexico, taking Y.M. and Y.M.'s brother with her. The trial court found the statements made by Y.M, her brother, and her mother, were admissible under the forfeiture by wrongdoing doctrine because Mr. Hernandez supported the mother's plans to leave the country before trial. The trial court also found Y.M.'s statements were separately admissible under the child hearsay exception.

The trial court's rulings were made in error. The State failed to show the witnesses were "unavailable," making the statements inadmissible under the forfeiture by wrongdoing doctrine and the child hearsay exception. In addition, the statements were inadmissible because Y.M.'s statements were testimonial and the State did not show Mr. Hernandez engaged in wrongdoing. The court's admission of the witnesses' statements violated Mr. Hernandez's Sixth Amendment right to confront the witnesses against him. Because the State could not have proven its case absent these errors, this Court should reverse.

1

B. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. The trial court violated Mr. Hernandez's Sixth Amendment confrontation right when it admitted the witnesses' statements under the forfeiture by wrongdoing doctrine.

2. Mr. Hernandez's constitutional right to confront the witnesses against him was violated when the trial court admitted Y.M.'s testimonial statements at trial.

3. The trial court violated Mr. Hernandez's right to confrontation when it admitted Y.M.'s statements under the child hearsay exception statute.

4. The trial court erred when it found Olga Mendez-Cruz did not initiate the plan to leave for Mexico with her children.

C. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. The Sixth Amendment requires that criminal defendants be given the opportunity to confront the witnesses against them. A defendant may forfeit this right under the forfeiture by wrongdoing doctrine, but only if the defendant's "wrongdoing" caused the witness to be "unavailable." Where the witnesses' testimonial hearsay statements were admitted at trial but the State failed to demonstrate it made reasonable efforts to secure the witnesses' presence or that Mr. Hernandez engaged in wrongful conduct, should this Court reverse?

2. Like the forfeiture by wrongdoing doctrine, the child hearsay exception statute requires the child be "unavailable" if she does not testify at trial, and any statements are subject to the Confrontation Clause. Where Y.M. did not testify, her statements were testimonial, and the State had access to Y.M.'s precise location in Mexico but did nothing more than make a phone call, should this Court reverse because the trial court improperly admitted Y.M.'s statements under the child hearsay statute?

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The State charged Jenaro Hernandez with multiple counts of first degree child rape and first degree child molestation, alleging he assaulted his girlfriend's daughter. CP 150. Before trial, Mr. Hernandez moved to compel the State to produce the daughter, Y.M., and her mother, Olga Cruz-Mendez, for defense interviews. Supp. CP ______ (sub no. 31); 6/5/14 RP 42. In response, the deputy prosecutor explained it had come to his attention several weeks before that Ms. Mendez-Cruz had unexpectedly vacated her apartment and moved to Mexico, taking Y.M. and Y.M.'s older brother, Miguel Cruz, with her. 6/5/14 RP 42.

The State acknowledged it had "some obligation to make diligent efforts" to put its witnesses in contact with the defense but that "those efforts can't really extend into Mexico for all practical purposes" and that the State intended to proceed at trial "by way of child hearsay and corroborative evidence." 6/5/14 RP 43. In ruling on Mr. Hernandez's motion, the court ordered the State to "make reasonable and diligent efforts to locate and produce witnesses Y.M. and Olga Mendez for defense interviews before trial." Supp. CP _____ (sub no. 37); 6/5/14 RP 45-46.

A few days later, the State moved to continue the trial date, arguing it needed more time to investigate an additional charge of witness tampering because, upon reviewing recorded jail phone calls between Mr. Hernandez and Ms. Mendez-Cruz, it appeared the two discussed Ms. Mendez-Cruz's departure for Mexico before she left. CP 107-111; 6/13/14 RP 3-4. According to the deputy prosecuting attorney's affidavit attached to the motion, Ms. Mendez-Cruz's sisterin-law reported Ms. Mendez-Cruz had chosen to leave because of the difficulty in managing all of the appointments the State required her to attend related to the charges against Mr. Hernandez. CP 107.

According to the State, Ms. Mendez-Cruz's brother reported Ms. Mendez-Cruz had arrived safely in Oaxaca and would be visiting their mother soon. CP 108. The brother provided his mother's phone number, but when a detective called the number a young woman answered, said she did not know who Ms. Mendez-Cruz was, and instructed the detective not to call again. CP 108. The State made no additional efforts to locate Ms. Mendez-Cruz or Y.M. Finding the State had demonstrated good cause, the trial court granted the State's motion to continue. CP 103. Mr. Hernandez was later arraigned on an additional charge of tampering with a witness. CP 63.

In a motion in limine, the State sought the admission of statements made by Y.M., Ms. Mendez-Cruz, and Miguel under the forfeiture by wrongdoing doctrine.¹ 2 RP 152. The court granted the State's motion, allowing the admission of all of Y.M.'s statements, as well as limited statements made by Ms. Mendez-Cruz and Miguel. 2 RP 177. Finding no guidance regarding how the forfeiture by wrongdoing doctrine interacts with the admission of child hearsay, the

¹ For purposes of clarity, Y.M.'s older brother will be referred to herein by his first name.

court performed a separate child hearsay analysis and determined Y.M.'s statements were nontestimonial and admissible pursuant to the child hearsay exception as well. 2 RP 216-220, 233.

At trial, the State offered Y.M.'s statements through school personnel and the forensic nurse examiner. 3 RP 254, 297, 326; 5 RP 520. It also played Y.M.'s interview with an investigator for the jury. 4 RP 388. It offered Miguel's statement that Mr. Hernandez and Y.M. had once been in the bedroom behind a locked door, which Miguel thought was strange. 6 RP 618. It offered statements by Ms. Mendez-Cruz that Miguel had told her about this incident and she had questioned Y.M., as well as information about Ms. Mendez-Cruz's work hours and when Mr. Hernandez typically stayed at the house. 5 RP 591-96. A jury convicted Mr. Hernandez of all seven charges and the trial court imposed an indeterminate sentence of 318 months to life. CP 3, 6.

E. ARGUMENT

1. The statements made by Y.M., Miguel Cruz, and Olga Mendez-Cruz were not admissible under the forfeiture by wrongdoing doctrine because the witnesses were not "unavailable."

The Sixth Amendment provides that "[i]n all criminal prosecutions, the accused shall enjoy the right... to be confronted with

the witnesses against him." Const. Amend. VI; Const. art. I, 22. A defendant can forfeit this right through his actions, but only in very limited circumstances. *State v. Dobbs*, 180 Wn.2d 1, 11, 16, 320 P.3d 705 (2014). In order to find the defendant has forfeited his confrontation rights, the court must determine by clear, cogent, and convincing evidence that the witness was made unavailable by the wrongdoing of the accused and that the defendant engaged in the wrongful conduct with the intention of preventing the witness from testifying. *Dobbs*, 180 Wn.2d at 11; ER 804(6).

Evidence is clear, cogent, and convincing when the facts have been shown to be "highly probable." *Dobbs*, 180 Wn.2d at 12. Because the forfeiture of wrongdoing doctrine was not adopted in Washington until 2007, there is little precedent to guide the trial courts in its application. *Id.* at 12-13. This Court reviews a violation of the Sixth Amendment right to confront witnesses de novo. *Id.* at 10.

In a motion in limine, the State sought to admit out-of-court statements made by Y.M., Miguel, and Ms. Mendez-Cruz, for their truth under the forfeiture by wrongdoing doctrine. 2 RP 159. The trial court granted the State's motion. 2 RP 177. In doing so, it failed to address whether the witnesses were "unavailable," as required by

7

Dobbs and ER 804(b)(6), which provides that a statement is not excluded by the hearsay rule if the declarant is "unavailable as a witness" and the statement is "offered against a party that has engaged directly or indirectly in wrongdoing that was intended to, and did, procure the *unavailability* of the declarant as a witness." (emphasis added).

There is a difference between unavailability for Confrontation Clause purposes and unavailability for evidentiary purposes. *State v. Beadle*, 173 Wn.2d 97, 115, 265 P.3d 863 (2011). "[W]here testimonial evidence is at issue... the Sixth Amendment demands what the common law required; unavailability and a prior opportunity for cross-examination." *Crawford v. Washington*, 541 U.S. 36, 68, 124 S.Ct. 1354, 158 L.Ed.2d 177 (2004). Thus, only testimonial statements are subject to the constitutional requirements for unavailability. *Beadle*, 173 Wn.2d at 115.

In the constitutional sense, unavailability "requires the prosecutor to make a good faith effort to obtain the witness' presence at trial." *State v. Ryan*, 103 Wn.2d 165, 171, 691 P.2d 197 (1984); *see also State v. Beadle*, 173 Wn.2d 97, 113, 265 P.3d 863 (2011); *Barber v. Page*, 390 U.S. 719, 725, 88 S.Ct. 1318, 20 L.Ed.2d 255 (1968).

"[T]he lengths to which the prosecution must go to produce the witness is a 'question of reasonableness."" *State v. Smith*, 148 Wn.2d 122, 132, 59 P.3d 74 (2002); *California v. Green*, 399 U.S. 149, 189 n. 22, 90 S.Ct. 1930, 26 L.Ed.2d 489 (1970).

The State is required to use all available means or procedures at its disposal in order to bring the witness to trial. *State v. Hobson*, 61 Wn. App. 330, 336, 810 P.2d 70 (1991); *State v. Goddard*, 38 Wn. App. 509, 513, 685 P.2d 674 (1984). It is not required to perform a futile act, but if there is even a remote possibility that affirmative measures might produce the declarant, the obligation of good faith may demand the State undertake them. *Smith*, 148 Wn.2d at 132. The burden of proving unavailability for constitutional purposes lies with the proponent of the hearsay statement or, in this case, the State. *Id*.

a. The witnesses' statements were testimonial.

The trial court failed to make any specific findings about whether the witnesses were actually unavailable, so it did not evaluate whether the witnesses' statements were testimonial during its forfeiture by wrongdoing analysis. Instead, it found only that Y.M.'s statements were nontestimonial during its child hearsay analysis. 2 RP 216-220. The court erred when it failed to consider whether the other witnesses'

9

statements were testimonial for an "unavailability" analysis under the forfeiture by wrongdoing doctrine and found that Y.M.'s statements were nontestimonial.

i. Y.M.'s Recorded Statements to the Investigator

The United States Supreme Court has yet to provide a

comprehensive definition of what constitutes a testimonial statement.

State v. Hurtado, 173 Wn. App. 592, 599, 294 P.3d 838 (2013).

However, our Supreme Court has developed two tests. Beadle, 173

Wn.2d at 107-09. When the statement is made to law enforcement, the

courts employ the "primary purpose" test:

Statements are nontestimonial when made in the course of police interrogation under circumstances objectively indicating that the primary purpose of the interrogation is to enable police assistance to meet an ongoing emergency. They are testimonial when the circumstances objectively indicate that there is no such ongoing emergency, and that the primary purpose of the interrogation is to establish or prove past events potentially relevant to later criminal prosecution.

Beadle, 173 Wn.2d at 108.

Here, the police department performed its interview of Y.M.

through a "child interview specialist," Heidi Scott. Ex. 10. Ms. Scott

testified at the child hearsay hearing that she was "employed through

Dawson Place Child Advocacy Center," which houses the prosecutor's office, the Snohomish County Sherriff's Office, and Compass Health. 2 RP 132. She later specified that she was employed only by Compass Health, but explained she does not offer any counseling or clinical services. 2 RP 144. Instead, she provides "a service to law enforcement" by interviewing children when there has been an allegation of abuse or neglect. 2 RP 133, 144.

Ms. Scott's role, as an arm of law enforcement, was evident during the interview. Before beginning her questioning of Y.M., she showed Y.M. where the detective would sit and explained the detective would be able to see and hear them during the interview. Ex. 10 at 1. At one point, Ms. Scott informed Y.M. she was taking a document Y.M. had marked out to the detective. Ex. 10 at 26.

Other courts have found statements made in this type of interview are testimonial. *See In the Interest of S.R.*, 920 A.2d 1262, 1268, 2007 PA Super 79 (2007) (statements to a "forensic interview specialist" were testimonial because the interview was the functional equivalent of a police interrogation and an obvious substitute for live testimony); *People v. Warner*, 119 Cal. App. 4th 331, 14 Cal.Rptr.3d 419, 429 (2004) (because an interview by a specially trained child interview specialist is similar to a police interrogation, statements made by the child were testimonial), *reversed on other grounds* 18 Cal.Rptr.3d 869, 97 P.3d 811 (Cal.2004).

This Court has found that even statements made to a CPS social worker are testimonial where the interaction "had the potential to lead to criminal prosecution." State v. Hopkins, 137 Wn. App. 441, 456, 154 P.3d 250 (2007). In *Hopkins*, the court found the social worker was a government officer but noted that her initial role was to ensure the child's safety rather than investigate the alleged abuse. 137 Wn. App. at 444-45. However, the court found the social worker's second visit with the child, although still designed to ensure the child's safety, "had the potential to lead to criminal prosecution." Id. at 456. Because the meeting was closer on the continuum to a criminal investigation, the child's statements were testimonial. Id. at 456-57. The fact that the social worker was not working at the behest of law enforcement officers did not matter because she was a government employee and her CPS investigatory role overlapped with and aided law enforcement. *Id.* at 457. In reaching this conclusion, the Court applied the "primary purpose" test adopted in *Beadle*, 173 Wn.2d at 108. Hopkins, 137 Wn. App. at 458.

12

In contrast, the trial court in this case applied the "declarant-

centric" standard when evaluating Y.M.'s statements, which is the

appropriate test for determining whether a statement made to a

nongovernmental witness is testimonial. Beadle, 173 Wn.2d at 107-

108. This test examines:

[W]hether a reasonable person in the declarant's position would anticipate his or her statement being used against the accused in investigating and prosecuting the alleged crime.

Id. at 108. Applying this test, the court found:

The question becomes: Does she know why she's there? Not do the other people know why she's there. And in looking at it from the standpoint of this 8-year-old, it's clear she doesn't know why she's there. She doesn't know that the testimony that she is giving, and I call it testimony for lack of a better term, is being given for use at trial. She doesn't even know if it's being given for medical purposes or to make her feel better or to put an end to what she thinks is harm.

2 RP 219.

When the court applied the "declarant-centric" test, it erred.

The court should have evaluated the statements made by Y.M. during

the recorded interview under the "primary purpose" test, as the

evidence undisputedly demonstrated she was performing a service for

law enforcement. In State v. Ohlson, our Supreme Court identified four

factors to determine whether a statement is testimonial under the "primary purpose" test: (1) the timing relevant to the events discussed, (2) the threat of harm posed by the situation, (3) the need for information to resolve a present emergency, and (4) the formality of the interrogation. 162 Wn.2d 1, 12, 168 P.3d 1273 (2007).

Applying these factors, Y.M.'s statements were testimonial. Ms. Scott's questioning of Y.M. was very formal. It was recorded and the detective investigating the charges against Mr. Hernandez observed the interview and provided feedback to Ms. Scott during the questioning. The purpose of the interview was to gather evidence against Mr. Hernandez rather than meet an ongoing emergency. Thus, the primary purpose of the questioning was to establish past events potentially relevant to a later criminal prosecution. Y.M.'s statements to the investigator were testimonial.

ii. Y.M.'s Statements to School Personnel

The first allegation Y.M. made was to her third grade teacher. 1 RP 74. Her teacher immediately took her to see the school "nurse," who was actually a "house services paraeducator" with training only in First Aid and CPR. 1 RP 74, 85. The teacher also contacted the school psychologist. 1 RP 27. The school psychologist questioned Y.M. because she expected to be the one to make the report to CPS. 1 RP 43. However, Y.M. required prompting from her teacher in order to repeat the allegation. 1 RP 32.

Unlike like the details Y.M. provided during the interview with Ms. Scott, Y.M. told the school personnel only that Mr. Hernandez had hurt her with his "man part" and that this had happened repeatedly while her mother was at work. 1 RP 32-35. Like the CPS social worker in *Hopkins*, the teacher's initial questioning of Y.M. was done with the purpose of assisting Y.M. 137 Wn. App. at 444-45. However, the additional questioning of Y.M. in the nurse's office turned investigative. The school psychologist knew that she would be making a report to CPS and testified that many of the questions she asked Y.M. were designed to elicit the information she knew CPS would be seeking. 1 RP 43. Because the three women were public school personnel acting to assist CPS, Y.M.'s statements in response to their questioning were testimonial under the primary purpose test.

iii. Y.M.'s Statements to the Forensic Nurse Examiner

The Court also admitted Y.M.'s statements to the forensic nurse examiner, finding they were not testimonial because they met the hearsay exception as statements made for purposes of medical treatment and diagnosis. 2 RP 216. When statements are made to medical personnel, they are nontestimonial only when three factors are present: (1) where they are made for diagnosis and treatment purposes, (2) where there is no indication that the witness expected the statements to be used at trial, and (3) where the doctor is not employed by or working with the State. *Hurtado*, 173 Wn. App. at 600.

Here, the forensic nurse was clearly working with the State. While she testified the questions she asked Y.M. would assist in her diagnosis and treatment, the purpose of her forensic exam was to gather evidence for the prosecution. 1 RP 68. Ultimately the DNA samples she collected from Y.M. were compared against samples taken from Mr. Hernandez, eliminating any doubt that she was acting as an investigative arm of the State. 4 RP 361-62; 5 RP 552, 555; *see also Medina v. State*, 122 Nev. 346, 354-55, 143 P.3d 471 (2006) (finding a "forensics nurse" is a "police operative" who gathers evidence for the prosecution). The trial court erred when it failed to apply the test articulated in *Hurtado*, and instead simply found that Y.M.'s statements to the forensic nurse examiner fell under the medical diagnosis and treatment exception and were therefore nontestimonial.

iv. The Statements Made by Ms. Mendez-Cruz and Miguel

The record shows Ms. Mendez-Cruz and Miguel were questioned by law enforcement after Y.M. made the allegations against Mr. Hernandez. 5 RP 591, 595; 6 RP 618. At trial, the detective testified she spoke with Ms. Mendez-Cruz and Miguel after obtaining permission from Ms. Mendez-Cruz to search the apartment for evidence. 6 RP 614. Given that the detective had gone to the apartment to collect evidence, there can be no doubt that her primary purpose in speaking with Ms. Mendez-Cruz and Miguel was to establish past events potentially relevant to the prosecution of Mr. Hernandez. *See Beadle*, 173 Wn.2d at 108. Their statements were testimonial.

- b. <u>The State failed to engage in reasonable, good faith efforts to</u> <u>secure the witnesses' presence at trial.</u>
 - i. The State had the ability to identify the witnesses' precise location in Mexico.

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