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

based on untenable reasons or grounds. State v. Beadle, 173 

Wn.2d 97, 112, 265 P.3d 863, 871 (2011). In this case the 

defendant does not challenge the court's determination that Y.M-
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C.'s hearsay statements were sufficiently reliable under the nine 

well-established Ryan factors. State v. Ryan, 103 Wn.2d at 175-

176. Instead, the argument is that such an analysis is 

"unnecessary" because the statements were testimonial and Y.M

C. was not unavailable. Br. App. 25. 

Likewise, there is no challenge to the court's finding that 

corroborative evidence supported the admission of the child 

hearsay. This is a finding required by statute if the child declarant 

is unavailable to testify at trial. RCW 9A.44.120(2)(b). The court 

found Y.M-C. was unavailable for the purpose of the child hearsay 

statute even though it had already found her unavailable in the 

context of the forfeiture by wrongdoing analysis. 2 RP 171, 227-

228. 

The State's position is that this court need not decide 

whether Y.M-C.'s hearsay statements were testimonial, because 

that analysis goes directly to the Sixth Amendment confrontation 

right the defendant forfeited through his actions. Nonetheless, 

analysis of the issue is appropriate in the event the defendant 

prevails in his claim that he did not forfeit his Sixth Amendment 

rights. 
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Alleged violations of the Confrontation Clause are subject to 

de novo review. When a violation has occurred, a harmless error 

analysis under the constitutional standard must follow. State v. 

Hurtado, 173 Wn. App. 592, 598, 294 P.3d 838 (2013) review 

denied, 177 Wn.2d 1021, 304 P.3d 115 (2013). The U.S. Supreme 

Court has been reluctant to provide bright-line rules for whether an 

otherwise-admissible hearsay statement is testimonial and 

therefore inadmissible due to the protections of the Confrontation 

Clause: 

We leave for another day any effort to spell out a 
comprehensive definition of "testimonial." Whatever else the 
term covers, it applies at a minimum to prior testimony at a 
preliminary hearing, before a grand jury, or at a former trial; 
and to police interrogations. These are the modern practices 
with closest kinship to the abuses at which the Confrontation 
Clause was directed. 

Crawford v. Washington, 541 U.S. 36, 68, 124 S.Ct. 1354, 158 

L.Ed.2d 177 (2004). 

In Washington, our Supreme Court has developed two 

different tests to determine whether an out of court statement is 

testimonial. If the statement was made to a "nongovernmental 

witness" the court uses a "declarant-centnc" analysis: 

The proper test to be applied in determining whether the 
declarant intended to bear testimony against the accused is 
whether a reasonable person in the declarant's position 
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would anticipate his or her statement being used against the 
accused in investigating and prosecuting the alleged crime. 
This inquiry focuses on the declarant's intent by evaluating 
the specific circumstances in which the out-of-court 
statement was made." 

State v. Hurtado, 173 Wn. App. at 599 (internal citations omitted). 

On the other hand, if the statement was made to "law 

enforcement"7 the court uses the "primary purpose" test: 

Statements are nontestimonial when made in the course of 
police interrogation under circumstances objectively 
indicating that the primary purpose of the interrogation is to 
enable police assistance to meet an ongoing emergency. 
They are testimonial when the circumstances objectively 
indicate that there is no such ongoing emergency, and that 
the primary purpose of the interrogation is to establish or 
prove past events potentially relevant to later criminal 
prosecution." 

Id. at 599-600. 

The trial court's ruling on the testimonial or nontestimonial 

nature of the hearsay in this case was based on Hurtado, which at 

7 Even the initial classification of the hearsay recipient (nongovernmental 
vs. law enforcement) can be difficult, as illustrated by this case. For example, the 
three public school employees who received Y.M-C.'s earliest disclosures clearly 
work for the government, so the defendant argues that the •primary purpose" test 
applicable only to law enforcement applies. Br. App. at 15. This begs the 
question whether the •declarant-centric" test would be used if Y.M-C. had 
attended a private school, despite no clear reason why that fact alone should 
justify a different test. 

If an off-duty police officer happens upon an ongoing emergency In the 
aftermath of a crime, and knows due to her training and experience that her 
observations will likely be important to any future prosecution, does the off-duty 
officer's professional status mandate the use of the •primary purpose" test even 
though a similarly-situated civilian passerby would be subject to the ·dec1arant
centric" test? A similar difficulty attends the hybrid classification of Heidi Scott, 
the civilian employee of Compass Health who provides a •service to law 
enforcement" in her capacity as a child interview specialist. 2 RP 133. 
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the time was the most recent pronouncement of the law in 

Washington. 2 RP 216-220. Subsequent to the court's ruling, the 

U.S. Supreme Court issued a thorough discussion of these issues 

which appears to blend Washington's "primary purpose" and 

"declarant-centric" approaches. Ohio v. Clark, 135 S.Ct. 2173 (June 

18, 2015). 

In Ohio v. Clark a three year old boy, LP., was informally 

questioned in his classroom by two preschool teachers who 

observed injuries consistent with child abuse. Id. at 2178. The 

Court recited the post-Crawford cases which focused on 

statements to law enforcement officers, with that analysis 

influenced by whether the "primary purpose" of the questions was 

to meet an ongoing emergency, or the relative informality of the 

setting and the questions. See Davis v. Washington. 547 U.S. 813, 

126 S.Ct. 2266, 165 L.Ed.2d 224 (2006); Michigan v. Bryant, 562 

U.S. 344, 131S.Ct.1143,179 L.Ed.2d 93 (2011). 

The Court addressed head-on the previously-reserved issue 

of "whether statements to persons other than law enforcement 

officers are subject to the Confrontation Clause." Although it 

declined to adopt a bright line rule, it held that "such statements are 

much less likely to be testimonial than statements to law 
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enforcement officers." Ohio v. Clark, 135 S.Ct at 2181 . Even though 

the Court adhered to the "primary purpose" language from Its 

previous cases, the analysis turned more on the declarant's primary 

purpose than on the recipient's. See Id. ("At no point did the 

teachers inform L. P. that his answers would be used to arrest or 

punish his abuser. L.P. never hinted that he intended his 

statements to be used by the police or prosecutors"); Id. at 2182 

("Statements by very young children will rarely, if ever, implicate the 

Confrontation Clause."); Id. ("it is extremely unlikely that a 3-year

old child in L. P. 's position would intend his statements to be a 

substitute for trial testimony. On the contrary, a young child in these 

circumstances would simply want the abuse to end, would want to 

protect other victims, or would have no discernible purpose at all.") 

The recent Ohio v. Clark opinion validates the trial court's 

use of the "declarant-centric" test from Hurtado, because none of 

the five hearsay recipients in this case (a teacher, a school 

psychologist, a school nurse, a Sexual Assault Nurse Examiner, 

and a Child Interview Specialist) were law enforcement officers. 

While the 8 year-old victim in this case certainly presents a closer 

question than the 3 year-old victim in Ohio v. Clark, the trial court 

was correct to focus primarily on Y.M-C.'s perception of how her 
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statements would be used, with due consideration for how the 

recipents' primary purpose would have affected that perception. 

See 2 RP 214-220. This is consistent with the Supreme Court's 

directive to consider "all of the relevant circumstances." Ohio v. 

Clark, 135 S.Ct at 2180. 

To that end, the trial court made detailed findings supported 

by substantial evidence. The court described 8 year-old Y.M-C. as 

a "typical" child of that age in her intellect and maturity. 2 RP 214; 1 

RP 139. Her behavioral disposition was shy, somewhat reticent, 

and somewhat reluctant to disclose what happened. Id. at 215; 1 

RP 73. In that context, the court analyzed Y.M-C.'s interactions with 

each of the five hearsay recipients. 

1. Y.M-C.'s Statements To The Three Public School 
Employees Were Nontestimonlal. 

Y.M-C.'s interaction with the three school employees closely 

mirrored the 3 year-old victim's informal interrogation by his 

teachers in Clark. It occurred within minutes of Y.M-C.'s disclosure 

in the middle of class. Her teacher described her as "very timid" and 

"unsure of what was happening and what was going on." 1 RP 78. 

The court found that the intent of the school employees was to 

make sure "that the child is capable of functioning in school" even 
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though they have a secondary purpose of collecting information as 

statutorily mandated reporters of potential child abuse. See 2 RP at 

215-216. Because the hearsay recipients were not acting with the 

primary purpose of collecting information for law enforcement, it is 

nearly impossible that their conversation with Y.M-C. could have 

altered her timid and unsure disposition into one of intentionally 

providing facts as a substitute for future trial testimony. Nothing in 

the record supports a conclusion that Y.M-C. viewed her interaction 

with the school employees with an eye towards prosecution. The 

trial court's consideration of both the declarant's and the recipients' 

primary purposes, with greater emphasis on the declarant's, is 

exactly the approach taken by the U.S. Supreme Court in Ohio v. 

Clark. The court was correct in reaching the same conclusion, even 

though the Clark opinion had not yet issued. 

2. Y.M-C.'s Statements To The Sexual Assault Nurse Examiner 
Were Nontestimonial. 

The court found that Y.M-C.'s statements to the Sexual 

Assault Nurse Examiner, Lori Moore, were "clearly for treatment 

and diagnosis," a reference to the firmly-rooted hearsay exception 

for statements made in the medical context. 2 RP 216; ER 

804(a)(4). Not only did the defendant fail to object to the admission 
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of this evidence at trial, he conceded that this analysis was correct. 

2 RP 207. He now raises the issue for the first time on appeal, and 

therefore must demonstrate that the alleged violation of the Sixth 

Amendment was manifest error. "An appellant who claims manifest 

constitutional error must show that the outcome likely would have 

been different, but for the error." State v. Jones, 117 Wn. App. 221 , 

232, 70 P.3d 171 (2003). 

Defendant now cites only a non-binding case from Nevada in 

support of his theory that the forensic nurse in this case was 

actually a "police operative" for the purpose of a Confrontation 

Clause analysis. Br. App. at 16. Such a conclusion cannot survive 

the binding precedent of Hurtado, a case in which the hearsay 

statements were testimonial not because of the nurse who received 

them, but because of the police officer sitting in the room while 

collecting physical evidence. See Hurtado, 173 Wn. App. at 602, 

605-606 ("There is nothing in the record to show that the testifying 

nurse was employed or working with the State"); Giles v. California, 

554 U.S. 353, 376, 128 S.Ct. 2678, 171 L.Ed.2d 488 (2008) ("[O]nly 

testimonial statements are excluded by the Confrontation Clause. 

Statements to friends and neighbors about abuse and intimidation 
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and statements to physicians in the course of receiving treatment 

would be excluded, if at all, only by hearsay rules .... "). 

Like Hurtado, the record in this case contains no evidence 

that the nurse was "working with the State." The defendant's 

argument to the contrary is particularly unpersuasive in citing to 1 

RP 68 for the proposition that the forensic nurse acted with the 

intent to "gather evidence-for the prosecution." Br. App. 16. A fair 

reading of that portion of the record leads to the opposite 

conclusion; that the nurse had independent medical reasons to 

identify the abuser in order to prevent future injuries, and that she 

only testifies in court "because you guys [the State] subpoena me." 

1 RP 68-69. 

3. Y.M-C.'s Statements To The Child Interview Specialist Were 
Nontestimonial. 

Y.M-C. met with Child Interview Specialist Heidi Scott on 

November 22, 2014, the day after she disclosed at school. 4 RP 

381 . The court watched the video recording of that interview and 

determined "it's clear she doesn't know why she's there." 2 RP 

219. While it's true that the interviewer made periodic references to 

the detective observing the interview via closed circuit television, 

the record contains no evidence that Y.M-C. connected the 
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detective's presence to a potential future prosecution. The detective 

gave her no such information. 5 RP 586-587. Neither did the child 

interview specialist. 2 RP 143. To the contrary, Y.M-C.'s teacher 

testified that she instructs her students "police are there to help 

people." 1 RP 82. Y.M-C. asked no questions during her recorded 

interview about the detective's role or what consequences the 

defendant might face down the road. See Ex. 10. 

On these facts the court concluded that a reasonable 8 year

old would not know that her interview might be used in a trial. 2 RP 

220. This conclusion is consistent with the declarant-centric 

analyses in both Hurtado and Clark. As the Court observed in 

Clark, "It is irrelevant that the teachers' questions and their duty to 

report the matter had the natural tendency to result in Clark's 

prosecution/' Ohio v. Clark, 135 S.Ct. at 2183. Likewise, in this 

case it is just as irrelevant that Y.M-C.'s statements to the child 

interview specialist ended up serving as compelling evidence of the 

defendant's guilt. The trial court properly focused on the declarant

centric question, "Does [Y.M-C.] know why she's there? Not do 

other people know why she's there." 2 RP 219. Using this standard, 

the court reached the correct conclusion that Y.M-C.'s statements 

to the child interview specialist were non-testimonial. 
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4. Even If The Defendant Did Not Forfeit His Sixth Amendment 
Rights, AND Even If Some Of Y.M~C.'s Admitted Hearsay Was 
Testimonial, Any Error Was Harmless Beyond A Reasonable 
Doubt. 

A constitutional error is harmless if the appellate court is 

convinced beyond a reasonable doubt that any reasonable jury 

would have reached the same result in the absence of the error. 

Constitutional error is presumed to be prejudicial and the State 

bears the burden of proving that the error was harmless. State v. 

Guloy, 104 Wn.2d 412, 425, 705 P.2d 1182 (1985). In making this 

determination the appellate court looks only at the untainted 

evidence to determine if the untainted evidence is so overwhelming 

that it necessarily leads to a finding of guilt. Id. at 426. 

In this case the defendant seeks to excise all of Y.M-C.'s 

hearsay to five separate sources by claiming that all five of tho.se 

interactions were testimonial in nature. The effort falls particularly 

short with regard to the forensic nurse, because the defendant 

agreed at trial that her testimony was properly based on the 

medical hearsay exception. 2 RP 216; ER 804(a)(4). As discussed 

above, the claimed error on the forensic nurse's testimony would 

not have changed the result of the trial because so much untainted 

evidence remained. 
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The State's evidence was exceptionally strong. When Y.M

C. approached her teacher to complain of pain in her genitals and 

disclose the defendant's sexual abuse, she was wearing underwear 

that would be collected by a forensic nurse later that day. 4 RP 

361-363. The interior crotch of that underwear, and a swab taken 

from Y.M-C.'s genitals, contained the defendant's semen. Ex. 51 at 

42:00 - 43:30. Y.M-C. had notches and thickening on her hymen, 

indications consistent with sexual abuse. 3 RP 283-284. The 

defendant confessed to one incident of molesting Y.M-C.'s vagina 

with his hand (Ex. 31 at 62-63), a fact that surely increased the 

credibility of Y.M-C.'s descriptions of rape and molestation 

occurring in a long-term and frequent pattern of abuse. Finally, the 

defendant's desperate plan to remove Y.M-C. from the country and 

prevent her from testifying provided unrebutted evidence of just 

how damaging the defendant knew Y.M-C.'s live testimony would 

be to his case. See Ex. 15. Even if the court excises all of Y.M-C.'s 

hearsay except for the statements to the forensic nurse, the State's 

evidence would have been just as strong and the resulting verdict 

just as inevitable. Although there was no error, any error was 

harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. 
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IV. CONCLUSION 

The State respectfully requests that the court affirm all seven 

convictions in this case.